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Report of the Board of Supervisors

Composition of the Board of Supervisors

As at the end of the reporting period, the Board of Supervisors comprised seven Supervisors, 
including two Supervisors representing shareholders, namely Mr. YUAN Changqing and Mr. 
WANG Xingchun, three Supervisors representing employees, namely Mr. ZHENG Xin, Mr. XIA 
Zongyu and Mr. XIA Taili, and two external Supervisors, namely Mr. LI Wang and Ms. LV Shuqin. 
The Chairman of the Board of Supervisors is Mr. YUAN Changqing. Details of the incumbent 
Supervisors are set out in the section headed “Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”.

Functions and Authorities and Operation of the Board of Supervisors

Main functions and authorities of the Board of Supervisors shall include without limitation, to the 
following:

• supervising the performance of the Board of Directors and senior management, supervising and 
enquiring the due diligence of Directors and senior management members, and urging Directors 
and senior management members to rectify their behaviors detrimental to the interest of the 
Bank;

• proposing to dismiss or initiate litigation against Directors and senior management members 
who violate laws, administrative regulations and the Articles of Association or the resolutions 
of the Shareholders’ General Meetings;

• carrying out off-office audit of Directors and senior management members when necessary;

• supervising the financial activities, business decisions, risk management and internal control of 
the Bank, and providing guidance to the work of internal auditing department;

• checking financial information including the financial reports, business reports and profit 
distribution plans prepared by the Board of Directors for submission to the Shareholders’ 
General Meetings, and appointing certified accountants and auditors on behalf of the Bank to 
review such information if any problem is detected;

• supervising the implementation of strategic plans, policies and general management system for 
the development of the County Area Banking Business;

• submitting proposals to the Shareholders’ General Meetings;

• nominating the Supervisors representing shareholders, external Supervisors and independent 
Directors;

• formulating the amendments to the Rules of Procedures of the Board of Supervisors;

• other functions as conferred by laws, administrative regulations, departmental rules and the 
Articles of Association or as authorized by the Shareholders’ General Meetings.
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Discussions by the Board of Supervisors take the form of the meetings of the Board of Supervisors. 
The meetings of the Board of Supervisors consist of regular meetings and extraordinary meetings. 
Regular meetings of the Board of Supervisors shall be convened at least four times each year.

The Office of Board of Supervisors is the division for carrying out regular tasks of the Board 
of Supervisors. It is responsible for arranging meetings of the Board of Supervisors and special 
committees thereof and preparing documents and minutes for those meetings, as well as conducting 
daily supervision according to the requirements of the Board of Supervisors.

The Bank has established the Due Diligence Supervision Committee and the Finance and Internal 
Control Supervision Committee under the Board of Supervisors.

Due Diligence Supervision Committee

At the end of the reporting period, the Due Diligence Supervision Committee comprised four 
Supervisors, namely Mr. YUAN Changqing, Mr. WANG Xingchun, Mr. XIA Taili and Mr. LI 
Wang. The Chairman of the Due Diligence Supervision Committee was Mr. YUAN Changqing.

The Due Diligence Supervision Committee shall operate under the authorization of the Board of 
Supervisors and report to the Board of Supervisors.

The main responsibilities of the Due Diligence Supervision Committee are as follows:

• developing working plans and implementation plans regarding the supervision on the due 
diligence of the Board of Directors, the senior management, Directors and senior management 
members, and implementing the plans upon approval of the Board of Supervisors;

• commenting on supervising the due diligence of the Board of Directors, the senior management, 
Directors and senior management members, and making suggestions to the Board of 
Supervisors;

• developing plans for off-office audit of Directors and senior management members when 
necessary, and organizing the implementation of the plans upon approval of the Board of 
Supervisors;

• making recommendations to the Board of Supervisors on the candidates for Supervisor 
representing shareholders, external Supervisors, independent Directors and members of the 
special committees under the Board of Supervisors;

• drafting evaluation methods for Supervisors, organizing performance assessment of Supervisors 
and making suggestions to the Board of Supervisors;

• studying and handling issues or documents reported or provided by the Board of Directors, the 
senior management, Directors and senior management members;

• other matters authorized by the Board of Supervisors.
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Finance and Internal Control Supervision Committee

At the end of the reporting period, the Finance and Internal Control Supervision Committee 
comprised four supervisors, namely, Mr. YUAN Changqing, Mr. ZHENG Xin, Mr. XIA Zongyu 
and Ms. LV Shuqin. The Chairman of the Finance and Internal Control Supervision Committee was 
Mr. YUAN Changqing.

The Finance and Internal Control Supervision Committee shall operate under the authorization of 
the Board of Supervisors and report to the Board of Supervisors.

The main responsibilities of the Finance and Internal Control Supervision Committee are as 
follows:

• developing working plans and implementation plans of the Board of Supervisors regarding the 
supervision on the finance and internal control, and organizing the implementation of the plans 
upon approval of the Board of Supervisors;

• supervising the implementation of development, policies and general management systems for 
the County Area Banking Business strategic plans, assessing the implementation results, and 
making suggestions to the Board of Supervisors;

• checking the financial reports and business reports of the Bank and the profit distribution plan 
formulated by the Board of Directors, and making suggestions to the Board of Supervisors;

• drafting plans for supervising and inspecting financial activities, operating decisions, risk 
management and internal control of the Bank by the Board of Supervisors, organizing the 
implementation of the plans upon approval of the Board of Supervisors, and proposing to the 
Board of Supervisors on engaging external auditors for auditing the Bank’s financial position if 
necessary;

• guiding the work of internal auditing department of the Bank;

• studying and handling issues or documents reported or provided by the Board of Directors, the 
senior management, Directors and senior management members;

• other matters authorized by the Board of Supervisors.

Meetings of the Board of Supervisors and its Special Committees

During the reporting period, the Board of Supervisors held nine meetings and considered and 
approved 27 proposals including the annual report for 2014 and its abstract, and listened to 15 
specific work reports.

The Finance and Internal Control Supervision Committee held five meetings to consider and 
approve 11 proposals, including assessment report of the County Area Banking Business for 2014 
prepared by the Board of Supervisors.
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The Due Diligence Supervision Committee held six meetings to consider and approve 11 proposals, 
including the 2014 performance evaluation reports of the Board of Directors, the Board of 
Supervisors, the senior management and the members thereof.

The attendance of Supervisors at meetings of the Board of Supervisors and its special committees 
during the reporting period is listed below:

Number of attendance in person1/meeting requiring attendance

Special Committees under 
the Board of Supervisors

Supervisors

Meeting of 
the Board of 
Supervisors

Due Diligence 
Supervision 
Committee

Finance and 
Internal Control 

Supervision 
Committee

YUAN Changqing 3/3 1/1 2/2
WANG Xingchun 9/9 4/5
ZHENG Xin 8/9 4/5
XIA Zongyu 7/9 4/5
XIA Taili 6/9 3/5
LI Wang 3/3 1/1
LV Shuqin 3/3 2/2

Former Supervisors
CHE Yingxin 3/4 3/3
JIA Xiangsen 8/9 5/5
DAI Genyou 4/6 3/4

Notes: 1. Attendance in person includes on-site attendance and attendance by way of electronic communication, such as 
telephone and video conference.

 2. For details of changes in Supervisors, please refer to “Changes in Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management”.
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Work of Board of Supervisors

During the reporting period, the Board of Supervisors of the Bank earnestly performed its duties 
of supervision stipulated by the laws and regulations and the Articles of Association. The Board of 
Supervisors strived to explore new methods to improve the effectiveness of its supervision so as 
to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the Bank. The supervision and counter-balance 
functions in corporate governance were further exerted.

Supervision on performance to enhance the compliance of corporate governance structure

The Board of Supervisors explored specialized supervision and assessment on performance. The 
Board of Supervisors supervised and evaluated the performance of the Board of Directors and 
senior management in respect of the implementation of 2012–2015 Overseas Development Plan of 
Agricultural Bank of China, and suggested the Board of Directors and senior management to further 
streamline the management of overseas institutions and to enhance the risk management of overseas 
business. Annual assessment on performance of the Board of Directors and senior management 
is conducted through extensive collection of information of performance, questionnaires survey, 
debriefing reports and performance interview. Based on above, the Board of Supervisors formed 
annual performance evaluation reports.

Strengthening financial supervision to enhance compliance and operational efficiency

The Board of Supervisors focused on the supervision of major financial decisions and the 
implementations by listening to regular financial reports, and operation plan with its execution. 
The Board of Supervisor conducted specialized studies and investigations on management of fixed 
assets investment and capital management, reviewed and provided independent views on periodical 
reports, 2015 operation plan, budget of fixed assets investment and profit distribution plan for 2014.

Inspection of risks and internal control for the sustainable and healthy development

The Board of Supervisors paid close attention to the specialized management of credit risk and case 
risk. It reviewed special reports from the risk department, internal audit department and internal 
control and compliance department, and paid attention to the rectification of identified problems 
found by internal and external examinations. The Board of Supervisors strengthened its guidance on 
the internal audit. The Chairman of the Board of Supervisors listened to the work reports and risk 
audit reports from the audit department, provided advice, carried out in-depth inspection of the audit 
system, attached great importance to the application of audit results and supported the safeguard 
function of internal audit for business development of the Bank. In view of the declining asset 
quality and severe situation in case prevention and control of the Bank, the Board of Supervisors 
had advised the Board of Directors and senior management to adopt effective measures to improve 
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control and to prevent the moral hazard in asset 
disposal. The Board of Supervisors paid special attention to the management of “Sanxin” non-
performing loans and advised the senior management to earnestly deal with the matter and hold 
accountability seriously.
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Work of External Supervisors

During the reporting period, Mr. LI Wang and MS. LV Shuqin, as external Supervisors of the 
Bank, performed their supervisory duties with due diligence strictly in accordance with the 
Articles of Association of the Bank to review relevant proposals and the work reports and carry 
out the supervising investigations. They attended all meetings of the Board of Supervisors and 
special committees thereof in person, and provided professional, strict and independent advice and 
opinions. The external Supervisors played active roles in enhancing the corporate governance and 
improving the operation management of the Bank.

Independent Opinions of the Board of Supervisors

Compliance

During the reporting period, our corporate governance had been in compliance with applicable laws, 
regulations and the Articles of Association of the Bank. Members of the Board of Directors, Board 
of Supervisors and the senior management earnestly performed their duties and complied with the 
rules of meeting. The meetings convened, resolutions passed, information disclosed and documents 
subscribed by them were all in compliance with the laws and regulations.

Results Announcement

The preparation and review procedures of this results announcement were in compliance with laws, 
administrative regulations and regulatory requirements. The results announcement gives a true, 
accurate and complete view of the financial position and operating results of the Bank.

Use of Proceeds

During the reporting period, the actual use of proceeds was consistent with the purposes stated in 
the Bank’s prospectus.

Asset Acquisition and Disposal

During the reporting period, the Board of Supervisors did not find any insider trading or any act 
which might result in the impairment of the interests of the shareholders or loss of the Bank’s assets 
in the process of asset acquisition or disposal by the Bank.

Related Party Transactions

During the reporting period, the Board of Supervisors did not find any act in the related party 
transactions that might result in the impairment of the interests of the Bank.
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Internal Control

The Board of Supervisors had no objection to the 2015 Internal Control Assessment Report of the 
Agricultural Bank of China Limited.

Performance Evaluation of Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Members

The performance evaluation results of all the incumbent Directors, Supervisors and senior 
management members for 2015 was satisfaction.

By Order of the Board of Supervisors
YUAN Changqing

Chairman of the Board of Supervisors
31 March 2016
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Significant Events

Material Legal Proceedings and Arbitration

During the reporting period, there were no legal proceedings and arbitrations with material impact 
on the business operation of the Bank.

As of 31 December 2015, unresolved legal proceedings in which the Bank was a defendant, 
a respondent or a third person involved amounted to approximately RMB8.092 billion. The 
management of the Bank believes that we have fully accrued allowance for the potential losses 
arising from the said legal proceedings. Such events will not have any material adverse effect on our 
financial position or operating results.

Major Asset Acquisition, Disposal and Merger

During the reporting period, the Bank did not carry out any major asset acquisition, disposal and 
merger activities.

Implementation of Share Incentive Plan

During the reporting period, the Bank did not implement any share incentive scheme, including 
management share appreciation rights scheme and employee share ownership scheme.

Material Related Party Transactions

During the reporting period, the Bank did not enter into any material related party transaction.

Details and Performance of Material Contracts

Material custody, contract and lease

During the reporting period, the Bank did not enter into any material custody, contracting or leasing 
arrangements of assets of other companies and no other companies entered into any material 
custody, contracting or leasing arrangements of our assets.

Material guarantees

The provision of guarantees is one of the recurring off-balance-sheet businesses of the Bank. During 
the reporting period, the Bank did not have any material guarantee that was required to be disclosed, 
except for the financial guarantee services within the business scope as approved by the PBOC and 
the CBRC.
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Occupation of Fund by Controlling Shareholders and Other Related Parties

None of our controlling shareholders or other related parties occupied any of our funds.

Penalties Imposed on the Bank and Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management of the 
Bank

In the recent three years, there was no penalty from securities regulatory authorities in relation to 
incumbent Directors, Supervisors and senior management, as well as former Directors, Supervisors 
and senior management during the reporting period.

During the reporting period, there was no investigation, administrative penalty, criticism or public 
denunciation from the CSRC in relation to the Bank or our Directors, Supervisors and senior 
management. None of the Bank or our Directors, Supervisors and senior management was subject to 
any penalty of other regulatory authorities which would have material effect on our operation.

Integrity of the Bank and Controlling Shareholders

There were no judicial decisions in effect to be performed by or any outstanding debt with large 
amount matured and to be paid by the Bank or its controlling shareholders.

Material Equity Investments and material non-equity investments in progress

During the reporting period, the Bank did not have any material equity and non-equity investment.
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Commitments

Subject of 
Commitment Commitment Details of commitment

Date of 
commitment

Due date of 
commitment

Performance 
up to date

Huijin Non-competition 
commitment

(1) So long as Huijin continues to hold any of our shares 
or is deemed to be a controlling shareholder or a 
connected person of a controlling shareholder or de 
facto controller of the Bank in accordance with the 
laws or listing rules of China or of the place where our 
shares are listed, it will not engage or participate in 
any competing commercial banking activities in China 
or abroad. If Huijin engages or participates in any 
competing commercial banking activities or activities 
which evolve into competing commercial banking 
activities in China or abroad, it will immediately cease 
to participate in, manage or engage in such competing 
commercial banking activities.

(2) If Huijin obtains any governmental approval, 
authorization or license to operate commercial banking 
activities directly, or obtains any other opportunities 
to operate commercial banking activities, Huijin will 
immediately relinquish such approval, authorization or 
license, and will not operate any commercial banking 
activities.

(3) Notwithstanding the above provisions (1) and (2), 
Huijin, as a state-owned investment vehicle established 
by the PRC government to invest in financial/
banking industry, may through its investments in 
other companies and in any form (including but not 
limited to its wholly-owned entities, joint ventures, 
contractual joint ventures, or through its direct or 
indirect ownership of shares or other interests in such 
companies) operate or participate in any competing 
commercial banking activities in China or abroad.

15 July 2010 Valid for 
long-term

Continuous commitment 
 and performed 
 regularly

(4) Huijin, as a state-owned investment vehicle established 
by the PRC government to invest in financial/banking 
industry, will treat its investments in commercial 
banks on an equal footing, and will not confer upon 
any commercial banks any governmental approval, 
authorization or license to operate commercial banking 
activities or any business opportunities it obtains or 
may obtain, nor will it take advantage of its status as 
a holder of our shares or the information obtained by 
virtue of such status to make decisions or judgments 
against us or in favor of other commercial banks, and 
will avoid such circumstances arising. It will exercise 
its shareholder’s rights in our maximum or best interests 
as if we were its sole investment in a commercial 
bank, and will exercise its commercial judgment as our 
shareholder to maximize our best interests, and such 
judgment shall not be affected by its investments in 
other commercial banks.
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Subject of 
Commitment Commitment Details of commitment

Date of 
commitment

Due date of 
commitment

Performance 
up to date

SSF Lock-up of shares The purchased shares held by the SSF are subject to a lock-
up period of five years commencing on the transaction 
completion date or three years commencing on the pricing 
date of our initial public offering, whichever is longer. Prior 
to the first anniversary following the expiration of the lock-
up period, the SSF is allowed to transfer no more than 30% 
in aggregate of the purchased shares (including any split 
shares, bonus shares and allocated shares attached thereto) 
and prior to the second anniversary of the expiration of 
the lock-up period, the SSF is allowed to transfer no more 
than 60% in aggregate of the purchased shares (including 
any split shares, bonus shares and allocated shares 
attached thereto), provided that our initial public offering 
is completed within five years following the transaction 
completion date.

21 April 2010 21 April 2017 Not due and 
 performed regularly

The Bank Refinancing 
 statement 
 and commitment

The Board of Directors of the Bank announced the issuance 
plan for preference shares on 9 May 2014 and stated that 
apart from the issuance of preference shares, the Bank does 
not have other equity financing plans within the next 12 
months. However, the Bank does not exclude the possibility 
of replenishing the Bank’s capital in accordance with 
regulatory requirements and capital adequacy ratio through 
issuance of offshore preference shares.

8 May 2014 7 May 2015 Commitment fulfilled

On 8 July 2015, the Ministry of Finance and Huijin, as substantial sharehloders of the Bank, 
undertook that they would not reduce their shareholding in the Bank in the course of the unusual 
fluctuations of the stock market. The Ministry of Finance and Huijin strictly performed such 
commitments.
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Organizational Chart
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List of Branches and Institutions

Domestic Institutions

• BEIJING BRANCH
ADD: 13 Chaoyangmenbei Dajie
 Dongcheng District
 Beijing 100010
 PRC
TEL: 010-68358266
FAX: 010-61128239

• TIANJIN BRANCH
ADD: No. 3 6 Zijinshan Road
 Hexi District
 Tianjin 300074
 PRC
TEL: 022-23338701
FAX: 022-23338733

• HEBEI BRANCH
ADD: 39 Ziqiang Road
 Shijiazhuang
 Hebei Province 050000
 PRC
TEL: 0311-87016962
FAX: 0311-87019961

• SHANXI BRANCH
ADD: 33 Southern Inner Ring
 Street West
 Taiyuan
 Shanxi Province 030024
 PRC
TEL: 0351-6240801
FAX: 0351-4956999

• INNER MONGOLIA BRANCH
ADD: 83 Zhelimu Road
 Hohhot
 Inner Mongolia 010010
 PRC
TEL: 0471-6903401
FAX: 0471-6904750

• LIAONING BRANCH
ADD: 27 Beijing Street
 Shenhe District
 Shenyang Liaoning
 Province 110013
 PRC
TEL: 024-22550004
FAX: 024-22550007

• JILIN BRANCH
ADD: 926 Renmindajie
 Changchun
 Jilin Province 130051
 PRC
TEL: 0431-82093001
FAX: 0431-82093517

• HEILONGJIANG BRANCH
ADD: 131 Xidazhijie
 Nangang District, Harbin
 Heilongjiang Province
 150006
 PRC
TEL: 0451-86208845
FAX: 0451-86216843

• SHANGHAI BRANCH
ADD: 9 Yincheng Road
 Pudong New District
 Shanghai 200120
 PRC
TEL: 021-53961888
FAX: 021-53961900

• JIANGSU BRANCH
ADD: 357 Hongwu Road
 Nanjing 210002
 PRC
TEL: 025-84571888
FAX: 025-84577017
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• ZHEJIANG BRANCH
ADD: 55 Changqing Street
 Hangzhou
 Zhejiang Province 310003
 PRC
TEL: 0571-87226000
FAX: 0571-87226177

• ANHUI BRANCH
ADD: 448 Changjiang Zhonglu
 Hefei
 Anhui Province 230061
 PRC
TEL: 0551-62843573
FAX: 0551-62843573

• FUJIAN BRANCH
ADD: 177 Hualin Road
 Fuzhou
 Fujian Province 350003
 PRC
TEL: 0591-87909908
FAX: 0591-87909620

• JIANGXI BRANCH
ADD: 339 Zhongshan Road
 Nanchang
 Jiangxi Province 330008
 PRC
TEL: 0791-86693775
FAX: 0791-86693972

• SHANDONG BRANCH
ADD: 168 Jingqi Road
 Ji’nan
 Shandong Province 250001
 PRC
TEL: 0531-85858888
FAX: 0531-82056558

• HENAN BRANCH
ADD: 16 Outer Ring Road
 CBD Zhengdong
 New District
 Zhengzhou
 Henan Province 450016
 PRC
TEL: 0371-69196850
FAX: 0371-69196724

• HUBEI BRANCH
ADD: Block A
 Jinjin Garden
 66 Zhongbei Road
 Wuchang District
 Wuhan
 Hubei Province 430071
 PRC
TEL: 027-87326666
FAX: 027-87326693

• HUNAN BRANCH
ADD: 540 Furong Zhonglu
 Section 1
 Changsha
 Hunan Province 410005
 PRC
TEL: 0731-84300265
FAX: 0731-84300261

• GUANGDONG BRANCH
ADD: 425 East Zhujiang Road
 Zhujiang New Town
 Tianhe District,
 Guangzhou
 Guangdong Province 510623
 PRC
TEL: 020-38008008
FAX: 020-38008210 
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• GUANGXI BRANCH
ADD: 56 Jinhu Road
 Nanning
 Guangxi Autonomous
 Region 530028
 PRC
TEL: 0771-2106036
FAX: 0771-2106035

• HAINAN BRANCH
ADD: 26 Binhai Avenue
 Haikou
 Hainan Province 570125
 PRC
TEL: 0898-66777728
FAX: 0898-66791452

• SICHUAN BRANCH
ADD: 6 Tiyuchang Road
 Chengdu
 Sichuan Province 610015
 PRC
TEL: 028-86760366
FAX: 028-86760277

• CHONGQING BRANCH
ADD: 103 Xinhua Road
 Yuzhong District
 Chongqing 400011
 PRC
TEL: 023-63551188
FAX: 023-63844275

• GUIZHOU BRANCH
ADD: 201 South Zhonghua Road
 Guiyang
 Guizhou Province 550002
 PRC
TEL: 0851-5221069
FAX: 0851-5221069

• YUNNAN BRANCH
ADD: 36 Chuangjin Road
 Kunming
 Yunnan Province 650051
 PRC
TEL: 0871-63203405
FAX: 0871-63203584

• TIBET BRANCH
ADD: 44 West Jinzhu Road
 Lhasa
 Tibet 850000
 PRC
TEL: 0891-6959822
FAX: 0891-6959822

• SHAANXI BRANCH
ADD: 31 Tangyan Road
 Gaoxin District
 Xi’an
 Shaanxi Province 710065
 PRC
TEL: 029-88990821
FAX: 029-88990819

• GANSU BRANCH
ADD: 108 North Jinchang Road
 Lanzhou
 Gansu Province 730030
 PRC
TEL: 0931-8895082
FAX: 0931-8895040

• QINGHAI BRANCH
ADD: 96 Huanghe Road
 Xining
 Qinghai Province 810001
 PRC
TEL: 0971-6145105
FAX: 0971-6114575
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• NINGXIA BRANCH
ADD: 95 West Jiefang Street
 Xingqing District
 Yinchuan
 Ningxia Autonomous
 Region 750001
 PRC
TEL: 0951-6027614
FAX: 0951-6027430

• XINJIANG BRANCH
ADD: 66 South Jiefang Road
 Urumqi 830002
 PRC
TEL: 0991-2369407
FAX: 0991-2815229

• XINJIANG PRODUCTION AND 
CONSTRUCTION CORPS BRANCH

ADD: 173 South Jiefang Road
 Urumqi 830002
 PRC
TEL: 0991-2217109
FAX: 0991-2217300

• DALIAN BRANCH
ADD: 10 Zhongshan Road
 Zhongshan District
 Dalian
 Liaoning Province 116001
 PRC
TEL: 0411-82510089
FAX: 0411-82510646

• QINGDAO BRANCH
ADD: 19 Shandong Road
 Qingdao
 Shandong Province 266071
 PRC
TEL: 0532-85802215
FAX: 0532-85814102

• NINGBO BRANCH
ADD: 518 East Zhongshan Road
 Ningbo
 Zhejiang Province 315040
 PRC
TEL: 0574-87363537
FAX: 0574-87363537

• XIAMEN BRANCH
ADD: 98–100 Jiahe Road
 Siming District
 Xiamen
 Fujian Province 361009
 PRC
TEL: 0592-5578855
FAX: 0592-5578899

• SHENZHEN BRANCH
ADD: 5008 East Shennan Road
 Shenzhen
 Guangdong Province
 518001
 PRC
TEL: 0775-25590960
FAX: 0755-25572255

• TIANJIN TRAINING INSTITUTE
ADD: 88 Weijin Nanlu
 Nankai District
 Tianjin 300381
 PRC
TEL: 022-23381289
FAX: 022-23389307

• CHANGCHUN TRAINING 
INSTITUTE

ADD: 1408 Qianjin Street
 Chaoyang District
 Changchun
 Jilin Province 130012
 PRC
TEL: 0431-86822002
FAX: 0431-86822002
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• WUHAN TRAINING INSTITUTE
ADD: 186 Zhongbei Road
 Wuchang District
 Wuhan
 Hubei Province 430077
 PRC
TEL: 027-86783669
FAX: 027-86795502

• SUZHOU BRANCH
ADD: 65 Shishan Road
 New District
 Suzhou
 Jiangsu Province 215011
 PRC
TEL: 0512-68258999
FAX: 0512-68417800

• ABC-CA FUND MANAGEMENT CO., 
LTD.

ADD: 7/F, Lujiazui Business Plaza
 1600 Century Road
 Pudong New District
 Shanghai 200122
 PRC
TEL: 021-61095588
FAX: 021-61095556

• ABC FINANCIAL LEASING CO., 
LTD.

ADD: 5–6/F, 518 East Yan’an Road
 Huangpu District
 Shanghai 200001
 PRC
TEL: 021-68776699
FAX: 021-68777599

• ABC LIFE INSURANCE CO., LTD.
ADD: Block A, Minsheng Financial
 Center
 28 Jianguomen Nei Avenue
 Dongcheng District
 Beijing 100005
 PRC
TEL: 010-82828899
FAX: 010-82827966

• ABC HUBEI HANCHUAN RURAL 
BANK LIMITED LIABILITY 
COMPANY

ADD: 32 Xinzheng Road,
 Xinhe Town
 Hanchuan
 Hubei Province 431600
 PRC
TEL: 0712-8412338
FAX: 0712-8412338

• ABC HEXIGTEN RURAL BANK 
LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY

ADD: Middle Section
 Jiefang Road
 Jingpeng Township
 Hexigten 025350
TEL: 0476-2331111
FAX: 0476-2331111

• ABC ANSAI RURAL BANK LIMITED 
LIABILITY COMPANY

ADD: Shop A-02,
 Jinmingmeidi Community
 Yingbin Road
 Ansai County
 Shaanxi Province 717400
 PRC
TEL: 0911-6229906
FAX: 0911-6229906

• ABC JIXI RURAL BANK LIMITED 
LIABILITY COMPANY

ADD: 340 Longchuan Road
 Huayang Town
 Jixi County
 Xuancheng
 Anhui Province 245300
 PRC
TEL: 0563-8158913
FAX: 0563-8158916
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• ABC XIAMEN TONG’AN RURAL 
BANK LIMITED LIABILITY 
COMPANY

ADD: No.185–199 Zhaoyuan
 Community
 Committee Complex
 Zhaoyuan Road,
 Tong’an District
 Xiamen
 Fujian Province 361100
 PRC
TEL: 0592-7319223
FAX: 0592-7319221

• ABC ZHEJIANG YONGKANG 
RURAL BANK LIMITED LIABILITY 
COMPANY

ADD: 1/F, Jinsong Building
 Yongkang Headquarters
 Center
 Zhejiang Province 321300
 PRC
TEL: 0579-87017378
FAX: 0579-87017378
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Overseas Institutions

• HONG KONG BRANCH
ADD: 25/F, Agricultural Bank
 of China Tower, 50
 Connaught Road Central,
 Hong Kong
TEL: 00852-28618000
FAX: 00852-28660133

• SINGAPORE BRANCH
ADD: No.7 Temasek Boulevard
 #30-01/02/03,
 Suntec Tower 1,
 Singapore 038987
TEL: 0065-65355255
FAX: 0065-65387960

• SEOUL BRANCH
ADD: 14F Seoul Finance Center,
 84 Taepyung-ro 1-ga,
 Chung-gu,
 Seoul 100-768,
 Korea
TEL: 0082-2-37883900
FAX: 0082-2-37883901

• NEW YORK BRANCH
ADD: 277 Park Ave,
 30th Floor,
 New York,
 NY, 10172,
 U.S.A.
TEL: 001-212-8888998
FAX: 001-646-7385291

• AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA 
(DIFC BRANCH)

ADD: Office 2901, Level 29,
 Al Fattan Currency House Tower 2,
 DIFC, Dubai,
 U.A.E
TEL: 00971-45676900
FAX: 00971-45676910

• TOKYO BRANCH
ADD: Yusen Building
 2-3-2 Marunouchi 100-0005
 Japan
TEL:  0081-3-52085577
FAX: 0081-3-52085579

• FRANKFURT BRANCH
ADD: Ulmenstrasse 37-39,
 60325 Frankfurt am Main,
 Germany
TEL: 0049-69-401255-0
FAX: 0049-69-401255-139

• SYDNEY BRANCH
ADD: Level 18, Chifley Tower,
 2 Chifley Square,
 Sydney NSW 2000,
 Australia
TEL: 0061-2-8227 8888
FAX 0061-2-8227 8800

• LUXEMBOURG BRANCH
ADD: 65, Boulevard Grande-Duchesse 
 Charlotte, 
 Luxembourg L-1331
TEL: 00352-279559900
FAX: 00352-279550005

• AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA 
(UK) LIMITED

ADD: 7/F, 1 Bartholomew Lane,
 London,
 EC2N 2AX,
 U.K
TEL: 0044-20-73748900
FAX: 0044-20-73746425

• AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA 
(LUXEMBOURG) LIMITED

ADD: 65, Boulevard Grande-Duchesse 
 Charlotte,
 Luxembourg L-1331
TEL: 00352-279559900
FAX: 00352-279550005
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• AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA 
(MOSCOW) LIMITED

ADD: 4/F, 5 Lesnaya Str.,
 Moscow,
 125047,
 the Russian Federation
TEL: 007-499-9295599
FAX: 007-499-9290180

• ABC INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS 
LIMITED

ADD: 16/F, Agricultural Bank of 
 China Tower,
 50 Connaught Road Central,
 Hong Kong
TEL: 00852-36660000
FAX: 00852-36660009

• CHINA AGRICULTURAL FINANCE 
CO., LTD.

ADD: 26/F, Agricultural Bank of
 China Tower,
 50 Connaught Road
 Central,
 Hong Kong
TEL: 00852-28631916
FAX: 00852-28661936

• VANCOUVER REPRESENTATIVE 
OFFICE

ADD: Suite 1260,
 355 Burrard Street,
 Vancouver,
 BC V6C 2G8,
 Canada
TEL: 001-604-682-8468
FAX: 001-888-389-9279

• HANOI REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE
ADD: Unit V502-503, 5/F,
 Pacific Place,
 83B Ly Thuong Kiet Street,
 Hoan Kiem District,
 Hanoi,
 Vietnam
TEL: 0084-4-39460599
FAX: 0084-4-39460587

• TAIPEI REPRESENTATIVE OFFICE
ADD: 3203, No.333, Keelung Road,
 Sec.1, Xinyi District,
 Taipei City,
 11012,
 Taiwan
TEL: 00886-2-27293636
FAX: 00886-2-23452020
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Appendix I Liquidity Coverage Ratio Information

The Bank disclosed the following information of liquidity coverage ratio regarding related 
regulations by the CBRC.

Regulatory Requirements of Liquidity Coverage Ratio

In accordance with the Rules on Liquidity Risk Management of Commercial Banks (Provisional), 
it is required that the liquidity coverage ratio of commercial banks should reach 100% by the 
end of 2018. During the transition period, the liquidity coverage ratio should reach 60%, 70%, 
80% and 90% by the end of 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017, respectively. Eligible commercial banks 
were encouraged to fulfil the requirements in advance within the transition period. In addition, in 
accordance with the Rules on Disclosure for Liquidity Coverage Ratio Information of Commercial 
Banks, commercial banks are required to disclose the liquidity coverage ratio information at the 
same frequency as issuing the financial report, and to disclose the LCR simple average based on 
monthly data in every quarter before 2017.

Liquidity Coverage Ratio

The Bank calculated liquidity coverage ratio in accordance with the Rules on Liquidity Risk 
Management of Commercial Banks (Provisional) and applicable calculation requirements. The 
average of monthly liquidity coverage ratio of the Bank was 127.5% in the fourth quarter of 2015, 
representing an increase of 2.1 percentage points, over the previous quarter. It was primarily due 
to the increase in local government bonds investment, resulting in higher growth in qualified high-
quality liquid assets. Our liquidity coverage ratio in the fourth quarter of 2015 resumed its growth 
after a drop. At the end of October, under the combined effects of the rapid decrease in cash 
outflows due to substantial decrease of non-operational deposits and the increase in cash inflows 
due to additional secured borrowings (such as reverse repos and borrowed securities), the liquidity 
coverage ratio increased as compared to the previous month. At the end of November, the liquidity 
coverage ratio decreased as a result of the significant increase of net cash outflows due to sharp 
growth in non-operational deposits, which offset the increase in high-quality liquid assets. At the 
end of December, liquidity coverage ratio recorded slight growth as a result of the increase of cash 
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inflows due to the increases in secured borrowings (such as. reverse repos and borrowed securities) 
and inflows from fully performing exposures. The averages of the observations of the LCR and 
individual line items over the fourth quarter in 2015 are as follows:

In ten thousands of RMB, except for percentages

TOTAL 
UNWEIGHTED 

VALUE

TOTAL 
WEIGHTED 

VALUE

HIGH-QUALITY LIQUID ASSETS

1 Total high-quality liquid assets (HQLA) 360,185,568

CASH OUTFLOWS

2 Retail deposits and deposits from small business
 customers, of which:

888,136,806 76,808,166

3 Stable deposits 240,110,292 12,005,515

4 Less stable deposits 648,026,514 64,802,651

5 Unsecured wholesale funding, of which: 570,214,425 220,280,839

6 Operational deposits (all counterparties) and deposits
 in networks of cooperative banks

261,018,244 64,066,038

7 Non-operational deposits (all counterparties) 305,968,529 152,987,149

8 Unsecured debt 3,227,652 3,227,652

9 Secured wholesale funding 6,237,267

10 Additional requirements, of which: 107,890,788 19,769,394

11 Outflows related to derivative exposures and
 other collateral requirements

11,479,305 11,479,305

12 Outflows related to loss of funding on debt products 24,727 24,727

13 Credit and liquidity facilities 96,386,756 8,265,362

14 Other contractual funding obligations 40,186,851 985,995

15 Other contingent funding obligations 67,621,172 32,597,516

16 TOTAL CASH OUTFLOWS 356,679,177

CASH INFLOWS

17 Secured lending (e.g. reverse repos and
 borrow securities)

11,476,717 11,476,717

18 Inflows from fully performing exposures 85,646,662 49,935,317

19 Other cash inflows 12,226,635 11,970,331

20 TOTAL CASH INFLOWS 109,350,014 73,382,365

TOTAL 
ADJUSTED 

VALUE

21 TOTAL HQLA 360,185,568

22 TOTAL NET CASH OUTFLOWS 283,296,812

23 LIQUIDITY COVERAGE RATIO (%) 127.5%
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Appendix II Leverage Ratio Information

At the end of December 2015, the Bank’s leverage ratio, calculated in accordance with the Rules for 
the Administration of the Leverage Ratio of Commercial Banks (amended), was 6.33%.

At the end of 2014 and before, the Bank’s leverage ratio was calculated in accordance with the 
Rules for the Administration of the Leverage Ratio of Commercial Banks. The leverage ratios 
calculated by the two methods cannot be compared with each other.

In millions of RMB, except for percentages

Item
31 December

2015
30 September

2015
30 June

2015
31 March

2015

Tier 1 capital, net 1,204,592 1,167,147 1,114,883 1,117,462

Adjusted on-and
 off-balance sheet assets

19,016,486 18,974,719 18,906,164 18,138,800

Leverage ratio 6.33% 6.15% 5.90% 6.16%

In millions of RMB

No. Item Balance

1 Total consolidated assets 17,791,393

2 Adjustment for consolidation (70,033)

3 Adjustment for clients’ assets —

4 Adjustments for derivatives 6,631

5 Adjustment for securities financing transactions —

6 Adjustment for off-balance sheet items 1,294,090

7 Other adjustments (5,595)

8 Adjusted on-and off-balance sheet assets 19,016,486
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In millions of RMB, except for percentages

No. Item Balance

1 On-balance sheet assets (excluding derivatives and
 securities financing transactions)

17,235,135

2 Less: deductions from Tier 1 capital (5,595)

3 Adjusted on-balance sheet assets (excluding derivatives and securities
 financing transactions)

17,229,540

4 Replacement cost of all derivatives (net of eligible margin) 12,373

5 Potential exposure of all derivatives 10,296

6 Gross-up of collaterals deducted from the balance sheet —

7 Less: receivables assets resulting from providing eligible margin —

8 Less: derivative assets resulting from transactions with the central
 counterparty when providing clearance services to clients

—

9 Notional principal amount of written credit derivatives —

10 Less: deductible amounts of written credit derivative assets —

11 Derivative assets 22,669

12 Securities financing transaction assets for accounting purpose 470,187

13 Less: deductible amounts of securities financing transaction assets —

14 Counterparty credit risk exposure for securities financing transaction —

15 Securities financing transaction assets resulting from agent transaction —

16 Securities financing transaction assets 470,187

17 Off-balance sheet items 1,895,841

18 Less: off-balance sheet items, before any deduction for credit conversion (601,751)

19 Adjusted off-balance sheet items 1,294,090

20 Tier 1 capital, net 1,204,592

21 Adjusted on-and off-balance sheet assets 19,016,486

22 Leverage ratio 6.33%
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Appendix III  The Indicators for Assessing Global Systematic
Importance of Commercial Banks

The following disclosure was made in accordance with the relevant requirements of the Guidelines 
for the Disclosure of Indicators for Assessing Global Systematic Importance of Commercial Banks 
promulgated by the CBRC.

Assessment Indicators of the Global Systematic Importance of Commercial Banks

In millions of RMB

Category Item
Balance/

Amount in 2015

Size 1. Total adjusted on-and off-balance sheet assets 19,022,252

Interconnectedness 2. Intra-financial system assets 1,699,175

3. Intra-financial system liabilities 1,493,238

4. Securities outstanding 1,494,175

Substitutability 5. Payments activity (from the beginning of the 
  year to the end of the reporting period)

187,539,045

6. Assets under custody 7,145,110

7. Underwritten transactions (from the beginning 
  of the year to the end of the reporting period)

456,447

Complexity 8. Notional amount of OTC derivatives 1,536,465

9. Trading and available-for-sale securities 126,741

10. Level 3 assets 247,747

Global
 (cross-jurisdictional
 activity)

11. Cross-jurisdictional claims 310,797

12. Cross-jurisdictional liabilities 333,810



 

 

AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA LIMITED  
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with Limited Liability) 

 
Auditor’s Report and Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2015 
(Prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards) 
 
 
 
 



 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the shareholders of Agricultural Bank of China Limited 
(Incorporated in the People’s Republic of China with Limited Liability) 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Agricultural Bank of China 
Limited (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries set out on pages 1 to 143, which comprise 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2015, and the 
consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated 
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information.  
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
The directors of the Bank are responsible for the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements 
based on our audit.  We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing.  Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts 
and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.  
In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to 
the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair 
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, 
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements. 
  



 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of the Bank and its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015, and of 
their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared 
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance. 
 
Other Matters 
 
This report, including the opinion, has been prepared for and only for you, as a body, 
and for no other purpose.  We do not assume responsibility towards or accept 
liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Certified Public Accountants 
 
Hong Kong, 31 March 2016 
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
(Amounts in millions of Renminbi, unless otherwise stated) 
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 Notes Year ended 31 December 

 IV 2015  2014 

     
Interest income 1 725,793  699,289 
Interest expense 1 (289,653)  (269,398) 

     
Net interest income 1 436,140  429,891 

     
Fee and commission income 2 90,494  87,883 
Fee and commission expense 2 (7,945)  (7,760) 

     
Net fee and commission income 2 82,549  80,123 

     
Net trading gain 3 3,562  1,908 
Net gain on financial instruments designated at 

fair value through profit or loss 4 1,727  1,505 
Net gain on investment securities  857  335 
Other operating income 5 16,027  10,364 

     
Operating income  540,862  524,126 
     
Operating expenses 6 (225,818)  (223,898) 
Impairment losses on assets 8 (84,172)  (67,971) 

     
Operating profit  230,872  232,257 
     
Share of result of associate 24 (15)  - 

     
Profit before tax  230,857  232,257 
Income tax expense 9 (50,083)  (52,747) 

     
Profit for the year  180,774  179,510 

     
Attributable to:     

Equity holders of the Bank  180,582  179,461 
Non-controlling interests  192  49 

     
  180,774  179,510 

     

Earnings per share attributable to the equity 
holders of the Bank (expressed in RMB yuan 
per share)     
- Basic and diluted 11 0.55  0.55 

     
     
     
     
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
(Amounts in millions of Renminbi, unless otherwise stated) 
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  Year ended 31 December 
  2015  2014 

 
 

   
Profit for the year  180,774  179,510 

     
Other comprehensive income/(expenses):     

Items that may be reclassified subsequently 
to profit or loss: 

 
   

Fair value changes on available-for-sale 
financial assets 

 
25,831  34,587 

Income tax impact for fair value changes on 
available-for-sale financial assets 

 
(6,449)  (8,622) 

Foreign currency translation differences  690  152 

     
Other comprehensive income, net of tax  20,072  26,117 

     

Total comprehensive income for the year  200,846  205,627 

     
Total comprehensive income attributable to:     

Equity holders of the Bank  200,583  205,503 
Non-controlling interests  263  124 

     

  200,846  205,627 

     
     
     
     
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
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 Notes As at 31 December 

 IV 2015  2014 

     
Assets     

Cash and balances with central banks 12 2,587,057  2,743,065 
Deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions 13 697,923  572,805 
Precious metals  40,909  20,188 
Placements with and loans to banks and 

other financial institutions 14 504,252  407,062 
Financial assets held for trading 15 79,782  58,425 
Financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 16 359,479  356,235 
Derivative financial assets 17 16,038  7,195 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements 18 471,809  509,418 
Loans and advances to customers 19 8,506,675  7,739,996 
Available-for-sale financial assets 20 1,214,542  927,903 
Held-to-maturity investments 21 2,300,824  1,710,950 
Debt instruments classified as receivables 22 557,420  522,117 
Investments in associate  24 273  - 
Property and equipment 25 156,178  154,950 
Goodwill 23 1,381  1,381 
Deferred tax assets 26 81,548  78,640 
Other assets 27 215,303  163,822 

     
Total assets  17,791,393  15,974,152 

     
Liabilities     

Borrowings from central banks 28 60,599  80,121 
Deposits from banks and other financial 

institutions 29 1,221,901  831,141 
Placements from banks and other financial 

institutions 30 315,759  224,923 
Financial liabilities held for trading 31 24,036  25,211 
Financial liabilities designated at fair value 

through profit or loss 32 406,407  347,282 
Derivative financial liabilities 17 12,192  7,240 
Financial assets sold under repurchase 

agreements 33 88,804  131,021 
Due to customers 34 13,538,360  12,533,397 
Debt securities issued 35 382,742  325,167 
Deferred tax liabilities 26 111  43 
Other liabilities 36 528,597  435,987 

     
Total liabilities  16,579,508  14,941,533 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (Continued) 
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 Notes As at 31 December  

 IV 2015  2014 

     

Equity     

Ordinary shares 37 324,794  324,794 

Preference shares 38 79,899  39,944 

Capital reserve 39 98,773  98,773 

Investment revaluation reserve 40 22,429  3,118 

Surplus reserve 41 96,748  78,594 

General reserve 42 175,606  156,707 

Retained earnings  412,005  329,989 

Foreign currency translation reserve  (163)  (853) 

     
Equity attributable to equity holders of the 

Bank  1,210,091  1,031,066 

Non-controlling interests  1,794  1,553 

     

Total equity  1,211,885  1,032,619 

     

Total equity and liabilities  17,791,393  15,974,152 

     

     

     

     

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
 
Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2016. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Zhao Huan 

 
Lou Wenlong 

 

 
Vice Chairman 

 
Executive Director 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
(Amounts in millions of Renminbi, unless otherwise stated) 
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  Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank  

 

Notes 
IV 

 Ordinary 
shares 

Preference 
shares 

Capital 
reserve 

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve 
Surplus 
reserve 

General 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve Subtotal 

Non-
controlling 

interests Total 

             
As at 1 January 2015  324,794 39,944 98,773 3,118 78,594 156,707 329,989 (853) 1,031,066 1,553 1,032,619 
             
Profit for the year  - - - - - - 180,582 - 180,582 192 180,774 
             
Other comprehensive income  - - - 19,311 - - - 690 20,001 71 20,072 

             
Total comprehensive income for  

the year  - - - 19,311 - - 180,582 690 200,583 263 200,846 

             
Issuance of preference shares 38 - 39,955 - - - - - - 39,955 - 39,955 
             
Appropriation to surplus reserve 41 - - - - 18,154 - (18,154) - - - - 
             
Appropriation to general reserve 42 - - - - - 18,899 (18,899) - - - - 
             
Dividends paid to ordinary 

shareholders 10 - - - - - - (59,113) - (59,113) - (59,113) 
             
Dividends paid to preference 

shareholders 10 - - - - - - (2,400) - (2,400) - (2,400) 
             
Dividends paid to non-controlling 

interests   - - - - - - - - - (22) (22) 

             
As at 31 December 2015  324,794 79,899 98,773 22,429 96,748 175,606 412,005 (163) 1,210,091 1,794 1,211,885 
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  Total equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank  

 

Notes 
IV 

 Ordinary 
shares 

Preference 
shares 

Capital 
reserve 

Investment 
revaluation 

reserve 
Surplus 
reserve 

General 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve Subtotal 

Non-
controlling 

interests Total 

             
As at 1 January 2014  324,794 - 98,773 (22,772) 60,632 139,204 243,482 (1,005) 843,108 1,429 844,537 
             
Profit for the year  - - - - - - 179,461 - 179,461 49 179,510 
             
Other comprehensive income  - - - 25,890 - - - 152 26,042 75 26,117 

             
Total comprehensive income for  
the year  - - - 25,890 - - 179,461 152 205,503 124 205,627 

             
Issuance of preference shares  38 - 39,944 - - - - - - 39,944 - 39,944 

             
Appropriation to surplus reserve 41 - - - - 17,962 - (17,962) - - - - 
             
Appropriation to general reserve 42 - - - - - 17,503 (17,503) - - - - 
             
Dividends paid to ordinary 

shareholders 10 - - - - - - (57,489) - (57,489) - (57,489) 

             
As at 31 December 2014  324,794 39,944 98,773 3,118 78,594 156,707 329,989 (853) 1,031,066 1,553 1,032,619 

             

             

             

             
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
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  Year ended 31 December 

  2015  2014 

 
 

   
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES     

Profit before tax  230,857  232,257 
Adjustments for:     

Impairment losses on assets  84,172  67,971 
Depreciation of property and equipment  16,743  16,615 
Amortization of intangible assets and other assets  2,890  2,713 
Interest income arising from investment securities  (145,535)  (123,053) 
Interest income arising from impaired loans and 

advances to customers 
 

(1,765)  (1,002) 
Interest expense on debt securities issued  10,988  10,179 
Revaluation gain on financial instruments at fair 

value through profit or loss 
 

(5,285)  (1,861) 
Net gain on investment securities  (857)  (335) 
Share of result of associate  15  - 
Net gain on disposal of property, equipment and 

other assets 
 

(440)  (393) 
Net foreign exchange (gain)/loss  (11,615)  1,107 

     
  180,168  204,198 

     
Net change in operating assets and operating 

liabilities: 
 

   
Net decrease/(increase) in balances with central 

banks, deposits with banks and other financial 
institutions 

 

108,639  (335,229) 
Net increase in placements with and loans to 

banks and other financial institutions 
 

(60,050)  (48,818) 
Net decrease in financial assets held under resale 

agreements 
 

6,593  122,146 
Net increase in loans and advances to customers  (824,382)  (887,572) 
Net (decrease)/increase in borrowings from central 

banks 
 

(19,522)  80,017 
Net increase in placements from banks and other 

financial institutions 
 

90,836  50,560 
Net increase in due to customers and deposits 

from banks and other financial institutions 
 

1,395,723  823,773 
Increase in other operating assets  (119,076)  (119,917) 
Increase in other operating liabilities  124,032  214,283 

     
Cash from operations  882,961  103,441 
Income tax paid  (62,613)  (68,826) 

     
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  820,348  34,615 
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 Notes Year ended 31 December 

 IV 2015  2014 

 
 

   
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES     

Cash received from disposal/redemption of 
investment securities 

 
870,994  629,129 

Cash received from interest income arising from 
investment securities 

 
135,037  112,781 

Cash received from disposal of investment in joint 
ventures 

 
-  1 

Cash received from disposal of property, 
equipment and other assets 

 
1,032  2,819 

Cash paid for purchase of investment securities  (1,752,782)  (859,158) 
Increase in investment in associate  (288)  - 
Cash paid for purchase of property, equipment and 

other assets 
 

(21,687)  (25,997) 

     
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES  (767,694)  (140,425) 

     
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES     

Contribution from preference shareholders  40,000  40,000 
Cash received from debt securities issued  552,851  271,873 
Dividends paid to:  (61,535)  (57,489) 

Ordinary shareholders  (59,113)  (57,489) 
Preference shareholders  (2,400)  - 
Non-controlling interests  (22)  - 

Repayments of debt securities issued  (496,684)  (213,359) 
Cash payments for interest on debt securities 

issued  (11,306)  (10,107) 
Cash payments for transaction cost of preference 

shares issued  (63)  (38) 
Cash payments for transaction cost of debt 

securities issued   (17)  (58) 

     
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES  23,246  30,822 

     
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 

EQUIVALENTS  75,900  (74,988) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  

1 JANUARY 
 

738,241  813,799 
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH 

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

7,828  (570) 

     
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT  

31 DECEMBER 43 821,969  738,241 

     
NET CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

INCLUDE: 
 

   
Interest received  554,629  548,718 
Interest paid  (245,840)  (229,793) 

     

     
     

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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I GENERAL INFORMATION 
  
 Agricultural Bank of China Limited (the “Bank”) is the successor entity to the Agricultural 

Bank of China (the “Predecessor Entity”) which was a wholly state-owned commercial bank 
approved for setup by the People’s Bank of China (the “PBOC”) and founded on              
23 February 1979 in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).  On 15 January 2009, the 
Bank was established after the completion of the financial restructuring of the Predecessor 
Entity.  The Bank’s establishment was authorized by the PBOC.  The Bank was listed on 
the Shanghai Stock Exchange and the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on              
15 July 2010 and 16 July 2010, respectively. 

  
 The Bank operates under financial services certificate No. B0002H111000001 issued by 

the China Banking Regulatory Commission (the “CBRC”), and business license  
No. 100000000005472 issued by the State Administration of Industry and Commerce of 
the PRC.  The registered office of the Bank is located at No.69 Jianguomen Nei Avenue, 
Dongcheng District, Beijing, the PRC. 

  
 The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) include 

Renminbi (“RMB”) and foreign currency deposits, loans, clearing and settlement services, 
assets custody services, fund management, financial leasing services, insurance services 
and other services as approved by relevant regulators, and the provision of related 
services by its overseas establishments as approved by the respective local regulators. 

  
 The head office and domestic branches of the Bank and its subsidiaries operating in the 

Mainland China are referred to as the “Domestic Operations”.  Branches and subsidiaries 
registered and operating outside of the Mainland China are referred to as the “Overseas 
Operations”. 

  

II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  
1 Basis of preparation 
  
 Statement of compliance 
  
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”).  In addition, the consolidated financial statements include 
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance 
(Cap.622) for this financial year and the comparative period. 

  
 Basis of preparation 
  
 The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis 

except for certain financial instruments which are measured at fair value, as explained in 
the accounting policies set out below.  Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of 
consideration given in exchange for assets and that is received (or in some circumstances 
the amount expected to be paid) with respect to liabilities. 

  
 The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 

critical accounting estimates.  It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the 
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.  The areas involving a higher degree 
of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note III. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

  
1.1 Amendments to the accounting standards effective in 2015 and adopted by the 

Group 
  

 The following amendments have been adopted by the Group for the first time during the 

financial year ended 31 December 2015. 

   
 (1) Amendments to IAS 19  

(as revised in 2011) 
Employee Benefits - To Plans that Require Employees 

or Third Parties to Contribute Towards the Cost of 
Benefits 

 (2) Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle 

 (3) Amendments to IFRSs Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle 

  
(1) Amendment to IAS 19 (as revised in 2011): Employee Benefits - To Plans that Require 

Employees or Third Parties to Contribute Towards the Cost of Benefits 
  
 The amendment to IAS 19 (as revised in 2011) - Employee Benefits applies to defined 

benefit plans where employees or third parties are required to bear some of the cost of the 
plan.  The amendment clarifies the accounting by entities with plans that require 
contributions linked only to service in each period.  Entities with plans that require 
contributions that vary with service period will be required to recognize the benefit of those 
contributions over employees’ service period. 

  
(2) Amendments to IFRSs: Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle 
  
 The annual improvements to IFRSs 2010 - 2012 Cycle include a number of amendments 

to various IFRSs, including the amendments to IFRS 2 - Share-Based Payment, the 
amendments to IFRS 3 - Business Combinations, the amendments to IFRS 8 - Operating 
Segments, the amendments to IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement, the amendments to 
IAS 24 - Related Party Disclosures, the amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and 
Equipment, and the amendments to IAS 38 - Intangible Assets. 

  
(3) Amendments to IFRSs: Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle 
  
 The annual improvements to IFRSs 2011 - 2013 Cycle include a number of amendments to 

various IFRSs, including the amendments to IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, the amendments to IFRS 3 - Business Combinations, the 
amendments to IFRS 13 - Fair Value Measurement, and the amendments to IAS 40 - 
Investment Property. 

  
 The adoption of these amendments does not have a significant impact on the operating 

results, comprehensive income, or financial position of the Group. 
  

1.2 New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.622) 

  
 In addition, the requirements of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of the new Hong Kong 

Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622) come into operation during the financial year, as a result, 
there are changes to presentation and disclosures of certain information in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

  
1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

  
1.3 Amendments that are not yet effective but have been early adopted in 2015 

  
 The Group has adopted the following amendments that have been issued but are not yet 

effective in 2015. 

  
   Effective for annual 

periods beginning  
on or after 

  

 Amendments to IAS 27  Equity Method in Separate  
Financial Statements 

1 January 2016 

  
 Amendments to IAS 27: Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements 

  

 The IASB has amended IAS 27 - Separate Financial Statements.  The amendment allows 
entities to use equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and 
associates in their separate financial statements.  The Group has early adopted this 
amendment in 2015 and used equity method to account for investment in associate in 
separate financial statements.  The adoption of this new amendment does not have a 
significant impact on the Bank’s financial statements. 

  

1.4 Standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 
before their effective dates by the Group in 2015 

  
 The Group has not adopted the following new and amended standards that have been 

issued but are not yet effective. 
  
   Effective for annual 

periods beginning  
on or after 

  
 (1) IFRS 14  Regulatory Deferral Account 1 January 2016 

 (2) Amendments to IFRS 11  Acquisition of Interests in 
Joint Operations 

1 January 2016 

 (3) Amendments to IAS 16 
and IAS 38 

 Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation 
and Amortization 

1 January 2016 

 (4) Amendments to IAS 16 
and IAS 41 

 Agriculture: Bearer plants 1 January 2016 

 (5) Amendments to IFRSs  Annual Improvements to 
IFRSs 2012 - 2014 cycle 

1 January 2016 

 (6) Amendments to IFRS 10, 
IFRS 12 and IAS 28 

 Investment Entities: Applying 
the Consolidation Exception 

1 January 2016 

 (7) Amendments to IAS 1  Disclosure Initiative 1 January 2016 

 (8) Amendments to IAS 12  Income Taxes 1 January 2017 

 (9) Amendments to IAS 7  Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2017 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 
  
1.4 Standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 

before their effective dates by the Group in 2015 (Continued) 
  
   Effective for annual 

periods beginning  
on or after 

  
 (10) IFRS 15  Revenue from Contracts with 

Customers 
1 January 2018 

 (11) IFRS 9  Financial Instruments 1 January 2018 

 (12) IFRS 16  Leases 1 January 2019 

 (13) Amendments to IFRS 10 
and IAS 28 

 Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between An Investor and Its 
Associate or Joint Venture 

The amendments 
were originally 
intended to be 

effective for annual 
periods beginning on 

or after 1 January 
2016.  The effective 
date has now been 
deferred/removed. 

      
(1) IFRS 14: Regulatory Deferral Account 

  
 The IASB has issued IFRS 14 - Regulatory Deferral Accounts, an interim standard on the 

accounting for certain balances that arise from rate-regulated activities (“regulatory deferral 
accounts”).  IFRS 14 is only applicable to entities that apply IFRS 1 - First-time Adoption of 
International Financial Reporting Standards as first-time adopters of IFRS.  It permits such 
entities, on adoption of IFRS, to continue to apply their previous GAAP accounting policies 
for the recognition, measurement, impairment and de-recognition of regulatory deferral 
accounts.  The interim standard also provides guidance on selecting and changing 
accounting policies (on first-time adoption or subsequently) and on presentation and 
disclosure.  The Group anticipates that the adoption of this new standard should not have 
any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

  
(2) Amendments to IFRS 11: Acquisition of Interests in Joint Operations 

  
 The amendments to IFRS 11 - Joint Arrangements provide specific guidance on 

accounting for the acquisition of an interest in a joint operation that is a business.  The 
amendments require an investor to apply the principles of business combination 
accounting when it acquires an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a business.  
The Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant 
impact on the Group's consolidated financial statements. 

  
(3) Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation 

and Amortization 
  
 The amendments to IAS 16 - Property, Plant and Equipment, clarify that depreciation of an 

item of property, plant and equipment based on revenue generated by using the asset is 
not appropriate.  The amendments to IAS 38 - Intangible Assets, establish a rebuttable 
presumption that amortization of an intangible asset based on revenue generated by using 
the asset is inappropriate.  The presumption may only be rebutted in certain limited 
circumstances.  The Group anticipates that the adoption of these amendments should not 
have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

  
1.4 Standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 

before their effective dates by the Group in 2015 (Continued) 

  
(4) Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 41 on Agriculture: Bearer Plants 
  
 The amendments change the reporting for bearer plants, such as grape vines, rubber trees 

and oil palms.  Bearer plants should be accounted for in the same way as property, plant 
and equipment because their operation is similar to that of manufacturing.  The 
amendments include them in the scope of IAS 16 rather than IAS 41.  The produce on 
bearer plants will remain in the scope of IAS 41.  The Group anticipates that the adoption 
of these amendments should not have any impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 

  
(5) Amendments to IFRSs: Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - 2014 cycle 
  
 The Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 - 2014 Cycle include a number of amendments 

to various IFRSs, including the amendments IFRS 5 - Non-current Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations regarding methods of disposal, the amendments to IFRS 7 - 
Financial Instruments: Disclosures regarding servicing contracts, the amendments to IAS 
19 - Employee Benefits regarding discount rates, the amendments to IAS 34 - Interim 
Financial Reporting regarding disclosure of information.  The Group anticipates that the 
adoption of these amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group's 
consolidated financial statements. 

  
(6) Amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28: Investment Entities: Applying the 

Consolidation Exception 
  
 The amendments to IFRS 10 clarify that the exception from preparing consolidated 

financial statements is available to intermediate parent entities which are subsidiaries of 
investment entities.  The exception is available when the investment entity parent 
measures its subsidiaries at fair value.  The intermediate parent would also need to meet 
the other criteria for exception listed in IFRS 10.  The amendments also clarify that an 
investment entity should consolidate a subsidiary which is not an investment entity and 
which provides services in support of the investment entity’s investment activities, such 
that it acts as an extension of the investment entity.  However, the amendments also 
confirm that if the subsidiary is itself an investment entity, the investment entity parent 
should measure its investment in the subsidiary at fair value through profit or loss.  This 
approach is required regardless of whether the subsidiary provides investment-related 
services to the parent or to third parties. 

  
 The amendments to IAS 28 allow an entity which is itself not an investment entity, but has 

an interest in an associate or a joint venture which is an investment entity, a policy choice 
to retain the fair value measurement applied by the associate or joint venture, or to unwind 
the fair value measurement and perform a consolidation at the level of the associate or 
joint venture for their subsidiaries. 

  
 The Group anticipates that the adoption of these amendments will not have a significant 

impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

  



AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
(Amounts in millions of Renminbi, unless otherwise stated) 

 

14 

II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 

  
1.4 Standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 

before their effective dates by the Group in 2015 (Continued) 

  
(7) Amendments to IAS 1：Disclosure Initiative 

  

 The amendments clarify guidance in IAS 1 on materiality and aggregation, the presentation 
of subtotals, the structure of financial statements and the disclosure of accounting policies.  
Although the amendments do not require specific changes, they clarify a number of 
presentation issues and highlight that preparers are permitted to tailor the format and 
presentation of the financial statements to their circumstances and the needs of users. The 
Group anticipates that the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact 
on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

  
(8) Amendments to IAS 12：Income Taxes 

  
 The IASB has issued amendments to IAS 12 - Income taxes.  These amendments on the 

recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealized losses clarify how to account for deferred 
tax assets related to debt instruments measured at fair value.  The Group anticipates that 
the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group's 
consolidated financial statements. 

  
(9) Amendments to IAS 7：Statement of Cash Flows 

  
 The IASB has issued an amendment to IAS 7 introducing an additional disclosure that will 

enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing 
activities.  The amendment is part of the IASB’s Disclosure Initiative, which continues to 
explore how financial statement disclosure can be improved.  The Group anticipates that 
the adoption of the amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group's 
consolidated financial statements. 

  
(10) IFRS 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
  
 IFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for determining when to recognize 

revenue and how much revenue to recognize through a 5-step approach.  The core 
principle is that a company should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised 
goods or services to the customer in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.  It moves away 
from a revenue recognition model based on an ‘earnings processes’ to an ‘asset-liability’ 
approach based on transfer of control.  IFRS 15 provides specific guidance on 
capitalization of contract cost and license arrangements.  It also includes a cohesive set of 
disclosure requirements about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and 
cash flows arising from the entity’s contracts with customers.  The Group anticipates that 
the adoption of these amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 

https://inform.pwc.com/inform2/show?action=informContent&id=1634193101157876
https://inform.pwc.com/inform2/show?action=informContent&id=1641012702105014


AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA LIMITED 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 
(Amounts in millions of Renminbi, unless otherwise stated) 

 

15 

II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 
  
1.4 Standards and amendments that are not yet effective and have not been adopted 

before their effective dates by the Group in 2015 (Continued) 
  
(11) IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 
  
 The complete version of IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments was issued in July 2014.  It 

replaces the guidance in IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement 
that relates to the classification and measurement of financial instruments.  IFRS 9 retains 
but simplifies the mixed measurement model and establishes three primary measurement 
categories for financial assets: amortized cost, fair value through other comprehensive 
income (“OCI”) and fair value through profit or loss.  The basis of classification depends on 
the entity’s business model and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial 
asset.  Investments in equity instruments are required to be measured at fair value through 
profit or loss with the irrevocable option at inception to present changes in fair value in OCI 
in which case the accumulated fair value changes in OCI will not be recycled to the profit 
or loss in the future.  There is now a new expected credit losses model that replaces the 
incurred loss impairment model used in IAS 39.  For financial liabilities there were no 
changes to classification and measurement, except for the recognition of changes in own 
credit risk in other comprehensive income for liabilities designated at fair value through 
profit or loss.  IFRS 9 relaxes the requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing the 
bright line hedge effectiveness tests.  It requires an economic relationship between the 
hedged item and hedging instrument and for the ‘hedged ratio’ to be the same as the one 
management actually use for risk management purposes.  The Group is in the process of 
assessing the impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements from this new 
standard. 

  
(12) IFRS 16: Leases 
  
 IFRS 16 addresses the definition of a lease, recognition and measurement of leases and 

establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about 
the leasing activities of both lessees and lessors.  A key change arising from IFRS 16 is 
that most operating leases will be accounted for on balance sheet for lessees.  The 
standard replaces IAS 17 ‘Leases’, and related interpretations.  The Group is in the 
process of assessing the impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements from this 
new standard. 

  
(13) Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28: Sale or Contribution of Assets between An Investor 

and Its Associate or Joint Venture 
  
 These amendments address an inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 – 

Consolidated Financial Statements and those in IAS 28 – Investment in Associates and 
Joint Ventures in the sale and contribution of assets between an investor and its associate 
or joint venture.  A full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business.  A 
partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute 
a business, even if those assets are in a subsidiary.  The Group anticipates that the 
adoption of these amendments will not have a significant impact on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
2 Consolidation 
  
 Basis of consolidation 
  
 The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Bank and the 

subsidiaries as well as structured entities controlled by the Group.  The Group controls an 
entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. 

  
 Income and expense of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in 

the consolidated income statement from the date of acquisition or up to the date on which 
control ceases, respectively. 

  
 Adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries, where appropriate, to 

consistently reflect the accounting policies of the Group. 
  
 All intra-group transactions, balances, and income and expense are eliminated on 

consolidation. 
  
 Non-controlling interests of consolidated subsidiaries are presented separately from the 

controlling party's equity therein. 
  
 The carrying amount of non-controlling interests is the amount of those interests at initial 

recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity.  
Further, total comprehensive income of a subsidiary is attributed, based on the proportion 
of their respective holdings, to the equity holders of the Bank and to the non-controlling 
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. 

  
 In the Bank’s statement of financial position, its investments in subsidiaries are stated at 

cost, less impairment losses, if any. 
  
 Business combinations 
  
 Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method.  The 

consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is 
calculated as the sum of the acquisition date fair value of the assets transferred by the 
Group, liabilities incurred or assumed by the Group, and any equity interests issued by the 
Group.  Acquisition related costs are recognized in the consolidated income statement as 
incurred. 

  
 At the acquisition date, irrespective of non-controlling interests, the identifiable assets 

acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair values; 
except that deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to employee 
benefit arrangements are recognized and measured in accordance with IAS 12 - Income 
Taxes and IAS 19 - Employee Benefits, respectively. 

  
 Goodwill is measured as the excess of the difference between (i) the consideration 

transferred, the fair value of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value 
of the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) and (ii) the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities incurred 
or assumed. 

  
 Non-controlling interests that represent ownership interests in the acquiree, and entitle their 

holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation are 
accounted for at either fair value or the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share in the 
recognized amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.  The choice of measurement 
basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
2 Consolidation (Continued) 
  
 Goodwill 
  
 Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition less the fair value of the 

Group’s share of the net identifiable assets of acquired subsidiaries and associates at the 
date of acquisition.  Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is presented separately in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.  Goodwill on acquisition of associates is 
included in investment in associates. 

  
 For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-

generating units (“CGU”) or groups of CGUs that is expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the business combination. 

  
 A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are 

largely independent of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. 
  
 A CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more 

frequently when there is indication that the unit may be impaired.  With respect to goodwill 
arising during a reporting period, the CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested 
for impairment before the end of that reporting period.  If the recoverable amount of the 
CGU, which is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use, is less than its 
carrying amount, the deficit, reflecting an impairment loss, is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the CGU and then to the other assets of the 
CGU on a pro-rata basis, based on the carrying amount of each asset in the CGU.  Any 
goodwill impairment loss is recognized directly in the consolidated income statement.  An 
impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods. 

  
 Investment in associate 
  
 An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither 

a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture.  Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but does not 
constitute control or joint control over those policy decisions. 

  
 The post-acquisition profit or loss of an associate is incorporated in the consolidated 

financial statements using the equity method of accounting.  Under the equity method, 
investment in an associate is initially recognized at cost and adjusted thereafter to 
recognize the Group’s share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of the 
associate.  When the Group’s share of loss of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in 
that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form part of the 
Group’s net investment in the associate), the Group discontinues recognizing its share of 
further loss.  Additional loss is recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred 
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that associate. 

  
 At the end of each reporting period, the Group considers whether there are circumstances 

that indicate the possibility of impairment of the Group’s investment in an associate; when 
that is the case, the entire carrying amount of the investment (including goodwill) is tested 
for impairment in accordance with IAS 36 - Impairment of Assets, as a single asset by 
comparing its recoverable amount (the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use) with its carrying amount, any impairment loss recognized forms part of the carrying 
amount of the investment.  Any reversal of an impairment loss is recognized, to the extent 
that the recoverable amount of the investment subsequently increases. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

  
2 Consolidation (Continued) 
  
 Investment in associate (Continued) 
  
 When an entity in the Group transacts with the Group’s associate, profits and losses 

resulting from the transaction are recognized in the Group's consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of interest in the associate that are not related to the Group. 

  
3 Interest income and expense 
  
 Interest income and expense for all interest-earning financial assets and interest-bearing 

financial liabilities are recognized within Interest Income and Interest Expense, 
respectively, in the consolidated income statement using the effective interest method. 

  
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial 

asset or liability and of allocating the interest income or expense over the period.  The 
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or 
payments through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a 
shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.  When calculating the 
effective interest rate, the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of 
the financial instrument, but does not consider future credit losses.  The calculation 
includes all fees and interest paid or received that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs, and all other premiums or discounts. 

  
 Interest income on an impaired financial asset or a group of impaired similar financial 

assets is recognized using the original interest rate which was used to discount the future 
cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. 

  
4 Fee and commission income 
  
 The Group earns fee and commission income from a diverse range of services it provides 

to its customers.  For those services that are provided over a specified period of time, fee 
and commission income is accrued over that period as the services are provided.  For 
other services, fee and commission income are recognized at the time the services are 
completed. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
5 Foreign currency transactions 
  
 The functional currency of the Domestic Operations is RMB.  The presentation currency of 

the Group and the Bank is RMB. 
  
 In preparing the financial statements of each individual Group entity, transactions in 

currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded 
in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the entity operates) at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions.  At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.  Non-monetary items carried 
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined.  Non-monetary items that are 
measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated. 

  
 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation 

of monetary items, are recognized in the consolidated income statement in the period in 
which they arise, except for the following: 
 
(i) exchange differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the Bank’s net 

investment in the Overseas Operations; 
 
(ii) changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated in foreign currency classified 

as available for sale are analyzed between translation differences resulting from 
changes in the amortized cost of the monetary assets and other changes in the carrying 
amount.  Translation differences related to changes in the amortized cost are 
recognized in the consolidated income statement, and other changes in the carrying 
amount are recognized in other comprehensive income. 

  
 Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair 

value are included in the consolidated income statement for the period except for exchange 
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and 
losses are recognized directly in other comprehensive income, in which cases, the 
exchange differences are also recognized directly in other comprehensive income. 

   
 For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets and 

liabilities of the Group’s Overseas Operations are translated into the presentation currency 
of the Group at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of the reporting period, and their 
income and expenses are translated at exchange rates at the date of the transactions, or a 
rate that approximates the exchange rates of the date of the transaction.  Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated 
in equity under the heading of Foreign Currency Translation Reserve and Non-controlling 
Interests, as appropriate.  The accumulated foreign currency translation reserve related to 
the Overseas Operations will be reclassified from equity to the consolidated income 
statement on disposal of all or part of the Overseas Operations. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
6 Taxation 
  
 Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
  
 Current tax 
  
 The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.  Taxable profit differs from 

profit as reported in the consolidated income statement because it excludes items of 
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never 
taxable or deductible.  The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

  
 Deferred tax 
  
 Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax 
base used in the computation of taxable profit.  Deferred tax liabilities are generally 
recognized for all taxable temporary differences.  Deferred tax assets are generally 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that 
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can 
be utilized.  Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized for temporary difference 
related to goodwill or the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other 
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable profit nor accounting profit. 

  
 Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary differences associated with 

investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able to control the 
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future.  Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary 
differences associated with such investments and interests are only recognized to the 
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilize 
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the 
foreseeable future. 

  
 The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period 

and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be utilized. 

  
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 

in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset realized, based on tax rate (and tax 
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

  
 The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 

would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.  Current and 
deferred tax is recognized in the consolidated income statement, except when it relates to 
items that are recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which 
case the current and deferred tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity, respectively. 

  
 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set 

off current tax assets against current tax liabilities, when they relate to income taxes levied 
by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and 
liabilities on a net basis. 
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II SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
  
7 Employee benefits 
  
 Employee benefits are all forms of consideration given and other relevant expenditures 

incurred by the Group in exchange for services rendered by employees or for termination of 
the employment contracts.  These benefits include short-term employee benefits, post-
employment benefits and early retirement benefits. 

  
 Short-term employee benefits 
  
 In the reporting period in which an employee has rendered services, the Group recognizes 

the short-term employee benefits payable for those services as a liability with a 
corresponding increase in the expenses in the consolidated income statement.  Short-term 
employee benefits include salaries, bonuses, allowance and subsidies, staff welfare, 
medical insurance, employment injury insurance, maternity insurance, housing funds as 
well as labor union fees and staff education expenses. 

  
 Post-employment benefits  
  
 The Group’s post-employment benefits are primarily the payments for basic pensions and 

unemployment insurance related to government mandated social welfare programs, as well 
as the annuity scheme established.  All these post-employment benefits are defined 
contribution plans, under which, the Group makes fixed contributions into a separate fund 
and will have no legal or constructive obligation to make further contributions if the fund 
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee services in 
the current and prior periods. 

  
 Contributions to the basic pensions and unemployment insurance plan are recognized in 

the consolidated income statement for the period in which the related payment obligation is 
incurred. 

  
 The employees of the Bank’s head office and domestic branches (“Domestic Institutions”) 

participate in an annuity scheme established by the Bank (the “Annuity Scheme”).  The 
Bank pays annuity contributions with reference to employees’ salaries, and such 
contributions are expensed in the consolidated income statement when incurred.  The Bank 
has no further obligation if the Annuity Scheme does not have sufficient assets for the 
payment of any retirement benefits to employees funded by the Annuity Scheme. 

  
 Early retirement benefits 
  
 Early retirement benefits have been paid to those employees who accept voluntary 

retirement before the normal retirement date, as approved by management.  The related 
benefit payments are made from the date of early retirement to the normal retirement date.   

  
 The accounting treatment of the Group’s early retirement benefits is in accordance with 

termination benefits as determined in IAS 19.  The liability is recognized for the early 
retirement benefit payments from the date of early retirement to the normal retirement date 
when the criteria for recognition as termination benefit is met with a corresponding charge 
in the consolidated income statement.  Differences arising from changes in assumptions 
and estimates of the present value of the liabilities are recognized in the consolidated 
income statement when incurred. 

  
8 Financial instruments 
  
 Financial assets and liabilities are recognized in the consolidated statement of financial 

position and classified into one of the categories presented below.  All regular way 
purchases or sales of financial assets are recognized and derecognized on a trade date 
basis.  Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that 
require delivery of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in 
the market place. 
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IV NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
51 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
  
51.3 Financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value on the 

consolidated statement of financial position 
  
 The tables below summarize the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets 

and financial liabilities not measured in the consolidated statement of financial position at 
their fair value.  Financial assets and financial liabilities for which the carrying amounts 
approximate fair value, such as Balances with Central Banks, Deposits with Banks and 
Other Financial Institutions, Placements with and Loans to Banks and Other Financial 
Institutions, Financial Assets Held under Resale Agreements, Loans and Advances to 
Customers, Receivable from the MOF, Special Government Bond, Borrowings from Central 
Bank, Deposits and Placements from Banks and Other Financial Institutions, Due to 
Customers, Financial Assets Sold under Repurchase Agreements and Certificates of 
Deposit Issued, Interbank Certificate of Deposits Issued and Commercial Papers Issued 
are not included in the tables below.  

  
   31 December 2015  31 December 2014 

 
  

Carrying 
amount  Fair value  

Carrying 
amount  Fair value 

          
 Financial assets         
 Held-to-maturity 

investments 
 
(1) 2,300,824  2,387,518  1,710,950  1,725,227 

 Debt instruments 
classified as 
receivables (2) 192,097  196,282 

 

150,503  150,690 

          
 Total  2,492,921  2,583,800  1,861,453  1,875,917 

          
 Financial liabilities         

 Bonds issued (3) 198,476  199,289  191,994  193,493 

          
 Other than these stated below, financial assets and financial liabilities as set out above 
were classified within Level 2 of the fair value measurement hierarchy. 
  

(1) As at 31 December 2015, included in the Group’s held-to-maturity investments,  
RMB2,048 million were classified within Level 1 of the fair value measurement hierarchy. 

  
(2) As at 31 December 2015, included in the Group’s debt instruments classified as 

receivables, RMB60,854 million were classified within Level 3 of the fair value 
measurement hierarchy (31 December 2014: RMB11,204 million). 

  
(3) As at 31 December 2015, included in the Group’s bonds issued RMB9,724 million were 

classified within Level 1 of the fair value measurement hierarchy (31 December 2014: 
RMB3,055 million). 
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IV NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
51 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
  
51.4 Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on the consolidated 

statement of financial position 
  
 The tables below summarize the fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities 

measured in the consolidated statement of financial position at their fair value. 
  
  31 December 2015 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
      
 Financial assets held for trading      
 - Debt securities - 65,050 - 65,050 
 - Precious metal contracts - 14,732 - 14,732 

 Subtotal - 79,782 - 79,782 

      
 Financial assets designated at fair 

value through profit or loss     
 - Debt securities - 105,584 649 106,233 
 - Interest in trust products - - 201,583 201,583 
 - Other debt instruments - - 47,714 47,714 
 - Equity instruments 1,019 700 2,230 3,949 

 Subtotal 1,019 106,284 252,176 359,479 

      
 Derivative financial assets     
 - Exchange rate derivatives - 13,833 38 13,871 
 - Interest rate derivatives - 900 20 920 
 - Precious metal contracts - 1,247 - 1,247 

 Subtotal - 15,980 58 16,038 

      
 Available-for-sale financial assets     
 - Debt securities 15,138 1,187,375 84 1,202,597 
 - Equity instruments 1,498 - 3,547 5,045 
 - Fund investments 6,586 - - 6,586 

 Subtotal 23,222 1,187,375 3,631 1,214,228 

      
 Total assets 24,241 1,389,421 255,865 1,669,527 

      
 Financial liabilities held for trading      
 - Financial liabilities related to 

precious metals - (24,036) - (24,036) 

      
 Financial liabilities designated at 

fair value through profit or loss     
 - Principal guaranteed wealth 

management products - - (406,407) (406,407) 

      
 Derivative financial liabilities     
 - Exchange rate derivatives - (11,129) (65) (11,194) 
 - Interest rate derivatives - (935) (26) (961) 
 - Precious metal contracts - (37) - (37) 

 Subtotal - (12,101) (91) (12,192) 

      
 Total liabilities - (36,137) (406,498) (442,635) 
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IV NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
51 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
  
51.4 Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on the consolidated 

statement of financial position (Continued) 
  
  31 December 2014 

  Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total 
      
 Financial assets held for trading      
 - Debt securities - 40,810 - 40,810 
 - Precious metal contracts - 17,615 - 17,615 

 Subtotal - 58,425 - 58,425 

      
 Financial assets designated at fair 

value through profit or loss     
 - Debt securities 122 45,971 - 46,093 
 - Interest in trust products - - 248,794 248,794 
 - Other debt instruments - - 59,876 59,876 
 - Equity instruments 3 633 836 1,472 

 Subtotal 125 46,604 309,506 356,235 

      
 Derivative financial assets     
 - Exchange rate derivatives - 5,654 164 5,818 
 - Interest rate derivatives - 757 38 795 
 - Precious metal contracts - 561 - 561 
 - Others - - 21 21 

 Subtotal - 6,972 223 7,195 

      
 Available-for-sale financial assets     
 - Debt securities 19,098 902,804 115 922,017 
 - Equity instruments 919 - 1,325 2,244 
 - Fund investments 3,358 - - 3,358 

 Subtotal 23,375 902,804 1,440 927,619 

      
 Total assets 23,500 1,014,805 311,169 1,349,474 

      
 Financial liabilities held for trading      
 - Financial liabilities related to 

precious metals - (25,211) - (25,211) 

      
 Financial liabilities designated at 

fair value through profit or loss     
 - Principal guaranteed wealth 

management products - - (347,282) (347,282) 

      
 Derivative financial liabilities     
 - Exchange rate derivatives - (6,020) (226) (6,246) 
 - Interest rate derivatives - (866) (70) (936) 
 - Precious metal contracts - (58) - (58) 

 Subtotal - (6,944) (296) (7,240) 

      
 Total liabilities - (32,155) (347,578) (379,733) 
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IV NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
51 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
  
51.4 Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on the consolidated 

statement of financial position (Continued) 
  
 Substantially all financial instruments classified within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are 

debt investments, currency forwards, currency swaps, interest rate swaps, currency options 
and precious metal contracts. Fair value of debt investments denominated in RMB is 
determined based upon the valuation published by the China Central Depository & Clearing 
Co., Ltd.  Fair value of debt investments denominated in foreign currencies is determined 
based upon the valuation results published by Bloomberg.  The fair value of currency 
forwards, currency swaps, interest rate swaps and currency options are calculated by 
applying discounted cash flow analysis or the Black Scholes Pricing Model.  The fair value 
of precious metal contracts is determined with reference to the closing spot price of gold of 
the Shanghai Gold Exchange.  All significant inputs are observable in the market. 

  
 Substantially all financial assets and financial liabilities classified within Level 3 of the fair 

value hierarchy are trust products and other financial assets and financial Liabilities 
Designated at Fair Value through Profit or Loss.  Generally, these assets are the 
investments into which wealth management products have invested, and for which the 
Group has provided investors with a principal.  The related liability, the wealth management 
product itself, is also designated at fair value through profit or loss.  These designations 
offset the accounting mismatch. 

  
 The nature of the assets classified within Level 3 of the fair value measurement hierarchy                  

is primarily investment products issued by domestic trust companies or other financial 
institutions, underlying assets of which include credit assets, deposits with financial 
institutions and debt securities.  The counterparties of the underlying deposits are primarily 
commercial banks in Mainland China.  The credit assets and debt securities are loans and 
advances to corporate customers and, plain vanilla bonds or notes issued by corporates or 
financial institutions in Mainland China.  As not all of the inputs needed to estimate the fair 
value of deposits, credit assets and debt securities in the investment products are 
observable, the Group classified the investment product as a whole within Level 3 of the fair 
value measurement hierarchy.  The significant unobservable inputs related to the credit 
assets are those around credit risk and liquidity risk.  This largely relates to the lack of 
historical default and liquidity information through one or more economic cycles, which 
Mainland China has not experienced.  Management has made assumptions, based on 
observed indicators of impairment or significant changes in yield, but the actual value 
realized from these underlying assets in a current arm’s length sale could differ from those 
disclosed. 

  
 There were no significant transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy during the 

years ended 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014. 
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IV NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
51 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
  
51.4 Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on the consolidated 

statement of financial position (Continued) 
  
 The reconciliation of Level 3 classified financial assets and financial liabilities presented at 

fair value on the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows: 
  
  2015 

 

 

Financial assets 
designated at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Derivative 
financial 

assets 

Available- 
for-sale 

financial 
assets 

Financial liabilities 
designated at fair 

value through 
profit or loss  

Derivative  
financial 
liabilities 

       
 1 January 2015 309,506 223 1,440 (347,282) (296) 

 Purchases 384,359 - 2,599 - - 
 Issues - - - (3,007,928) - 
 Settlements/disposals (458,126) (131) (408) 2,963,544 144 
 Total gains/(losses) 

recognized in      
 - Profit or loss 16,437 (34) 3 (14,741) 61 
 - Other 

comprehensive 
income - - (3) - - 

       
 31 December 2015 252,176 58 3,631 (406,407) (91) 

       
 Change in unrealized 

gains/(losses) for the 
year included in profit 
or loss for 
assets/liabilities held 
at the end of the year 962 (177) - 9 190 

   

  2014 

 

 

Financial assets 
designated at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Derivative 
financial 

assets 

Available - 
for-sale 

financial 
assets 

Financial liabilities 
designated at fair 

value through 
profit or loss 

Derivative  
financial 
liabilities 

       
 1 January 2014 211,011 347 225 (285,454) (692) 
 Purchases 367,322 21 1,325 - - 
 Issues - - - (3,084,325) - 
 Settlements/disposals (285,313) (17) (110) 3,036,734 36 
 Total gains/(losses) 

recognized in      
 - Profit or loss 16,486 (128) 2 (14,237) 360 
 - Other 

comprehensive 
income - - (2) - - 

       
 31 December 2014 309,506 223 1,440 (347,282) (296) 

       
 Change in unrealized 

(losses)/gains for the 
year included in profit 
or loss for 
assets/liabilities held 
at the end of the year (787) (128) - 439 360 
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IV NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
51 FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 
  
51.4 Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value on the consolidated 

statement of financial position (Continued) 
   
 In Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, total gains or losses included in profit or loss for the 

year are presented in Net Gain on Financial Instruments Designated at fair value through 
profit or loss of the consolidated income statement. 

  
52 EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
  
52.1 Profit appropriation 
  
 Pursuant to the meeting of Board of Directors on 21 January 2016, a cash dividend at the 

dividend rate of 5.5% per annum related to the second tranche of preference shares 
amounting to RMB2,200 million in total was approved and the dividend was distributed on  
11 March 2016. 

  
 Pursuant to the meeting of the Board of Directors on 31 March 2016, the proposal for profit 

appropriations of the Bank for the year ended 31 December 2015 is set forth as follows:  
  
 (i) An appropriation of RMB18,078 million to the statutory surplus reserve; 
   
 (ii) An appropriation of RMB22,464 million to the general reserve; 
   
 (iii) A cash dividend of RMB0.1668 per ordinary share in respect of the year ended            

31 December 2015 based on the number of ordinary shares issued as at                  
31 December 2015 totaling RMB54,176 million (Note IV 10 Dividends). 

  
 As at 31 December 2015, the statutory surplus reserve had been recognized as 

appropriation.  The other two items will be recognized on the Group’s financial statements 
after approval by shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting. 

  

52.2 Capital injection 
  

 

The Board of Directors approved capital injection to ABC International Holdings Limited of 
HKD4,250 million on 21 January 2016.  As at 31 March 2016, the capital injection was still 
subject to approval of the CBRC. 

  
52.3 Business Taxes to Value Added Taxes Reform 
  
 Pursuant to the “Circular regarding the Pilot Program on Comprehensive Implementation of 

Value Added Taxes from Business Taxes Reform”(Cai Shui [2016] No. 36) issued by the 
MOF and the SAT on 23 March 2016, effective 1 May 2016 taxpayers across the country in 
the financial industries will be required to pay value added taxes instead of business taxes.  
Value added tax and related underlying value of the invoice for value added taxable income 
and expenses shall be stated and accounted for separately.  Such changes will have 
impacts on both the Group’s consolidated financial statements and related financial 
indicators. 

  
53 COMPARATIVES 
  
 Certain comparative amounts have been reclassified to conform with the current year’s 

presentation. 
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IV NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued) 
  
54 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE BANK 
  

  As at 31 December  

  2015  2014 
     

Assets     
Cash and balances with central banks  2,586,843  2,742,797 
Deposits with banks and other financial 

institutions  690,230  562,792 
Precious metals  40,909  20,188 
Placements with and loans to banks and 

other financial institutions  511,969  412,825 
Financial assets held for trading  79,777  58,425 
Financial assets designated at fair value 

through profit or loss  355,550  355,763 
Derivative financial assets  15,803  6,950 
Financial assets held under resale 

agreements  470,182  509,412 
Loans and advances to customers  8,473,314  7,700,348 
Available-for-sale financial assets  1,195,554  917,381 
Held-to-maturity investments  2,293,949  1,703,508 
Debt instruments classified as 

receivables  541,252  511,174 
Investment in subsidiaries  10,660  10,564 
Investments in associates  273  - 
Property and equipment  153,184  152,374 
Deferred tax assets  81,213  78,368 
Other assets  185,575  148,290 

     
Total assets  17,686,237  15,891,159 

     
Liabilities     

Borrowings from central bank  60,489  80,030 
Deposits from banks and other financial 

institutions  1,226,793  834,765 
Placements from banks and other 

financial institutions  290,389  197,803 
Financial liabilities held for trading  24,036  25,211 
Financial liabilities designated at fair 

value through profit or loss  406,414  347,286 
Derivative financial liabilities  11,972  7,072 
Financial assets sold under repurchase 

agreements  88,804  126,950 
Due to customers  13,535,613  12,530,169 
Debt securities issued  379,728  323,336 
Other liabilities  453,468  389,088 

     
Total liabilities  16,477,706 1 14,861,710 
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54 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE BANK (Continued) 
  

 Notes 
IV 

As at 31 December  

 2015  2014 

     

Equity     

Ordinary shares 37 324,794  324,794 

Preference shares 38 79,899  39,944 

Capital reserve 39 98,574  98,574 

Investment revaluation reserve  22,258  3,043 

Surplus reserve 41 96,567  78,445 

General reserve 42 175,021  156,145 

Retained earnings  411,401  329,133 

Foreign currency translation reserve  17  (629) 

     

Total equity  1,208,531  1,029,449 

     

Total equity and liabilities  17,686,237  15,891,159 

     

     

     

     

Approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2016. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Zhao Huan 
 

Lou Wenlong 

Vice Chairman 
 

Executive Director 
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4. OVERDUE AND RESCHEDULED ASSETS 
  
(1) Gross amount of overdue loans and advances to customers 
  
  As at 31 December 

  2015  2014 
     
 Overdue    
 within 3 months 98,465  73,139 
 between 3 and 6 months 38,809  27,840 
 between 6 and 12 months 66,289  28,617 
 over 12 months 75,949  37,024 

     
 Total 279,512  166,620 

     
 Percentage of overdue loans and advances to 

customers in total loans 
 

  
 within 3 months 1.11%  0.90% 
 between 3 and 6 months 0.44%  0.35% 
 between 6 and 12 months 0.74%  0.35% 
 over 12 months 0.85%  0.46% 

     
 Total 3.14%  2.06% 

     
(2) Overdue and rescheduled loans and advances to customers 
  
  As at 31 December 

  2015  2014 
     
 Total rescheduled loans and advances to customers 27,919  26,403 
     
 Including: rescheduled loans and advances to 

customers overdue for not more than 
3 months 13,644  23,234 

     
 Percentage of rescheduled loans and advances to 

customers overdue for not more than 3 months in 
total loans 0.15%  0.29% 

     
(3) Gross amount of overdue placements with and loans to banks and other financial institutions 
  
 The gross amount of the Group’s overdue placements with and loans to banks and other 

financial institutions as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014 were not material. 

 


